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Lawrence P. Riff (State Bar No. 104826)
Iriff@steptoe.com

-‘Lynn R. Levitan (State Bar No. 176737)

llevitan@steptoe.com
STEPTOE & JOHNSON LLP
633 West Fifth Street, Suite 700
Los Angeles, California 90071
Telephone: (213) 439-9400
Facsimile: (213) 439-9599

Attorneys for Plaintiff
HYPERTOUCH, INC.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

L.CO81000

HYPERTOUCH, INC., a California
corporation, Case NO.
Plaintiff, - COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND
: INJUNCTIVE RELIEF - Violation of
VS. California Business & Professions Code

§§ 17529.5 and 17200 et seq.
VALUECLICK, INC., a Delaware _
corporation; E- BABYLON INC, a DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Delaware corporation; HI- SPEED MEDIA,
INC., a Delaware corporation; VC E-
COMMERCE SOLUTIONS, INC,, a
Delaware corporation; WEBCLIENTS INC.,
a Pennsylvania corporation;.
PRIMARYADS.COM, INC,, a Nevada
corporation, and DOES 1-30,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Hypertouch, Inc. (“Hypertouch™) brings this action seeking damages and injunctive relief
against ValueClick, Inc. (“ValueClick™), E-Babylon, Inc. (“E-Babylon™), Hi-Speed Media, Inc. (“Hi-
Speed”), VC E-Commerce Solutions, Inc. (“VCES”), WebClients, Inc. (“WebClients”), Think Partnership,
Inc. a/k/a Kowabunga!, Inc. d/b/a PrimaryAds.com, Inc. (“PrimaryAds™), and Does 1-30 for violation of
California Business & Professions Code §§ 17529.5 and 17200 et seq., and alleges as follows:

1. Hypertouch is a California-based Internet Service Provider, or “ISP.”
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2. As an ISP, Hypertouch receives and delivers thousands of e-mails each day to its individual |
and business subscribers, as well as offering a variety of other services, including the hosting of websites.

3. Hypertouch is an electronic mail service provider, that is, it is an intermediary in sending and.
receiving electronic mail and provides to end users of this electronic mail service the ability to send or
receive electronic mail. '

4, Hypertouch® is a registered federal trademark (#2328650 and #2367595) for computer
services, first used in commerce in 1998. |

5. Hypertouch owns and operates mail servers, web servers, and DNS (Domain Name Service)
servers that are connected to and accessed over the Internet.

6. In addition to legitimate e-mail, Hypertouch’s mail servers receive, each day, thousands of
unwanted and unsolicited commercial e-mails. Such unsolicited commercial e-mail is known by various
names, including “UCE” or “spam” and accounts for over 95% of messages sent to Hypertouch’s mail
servers. .

7. Spam is the Internet analog to junkmail and telémarketing, but sent postage due or as if a
collect call.

8. CongreSs, in the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pomography and Marketing Act of
2003 (the “CAN-SPAM?” Act), moved to regulate unsolicited commercial e-mail. While Congress legalized
spam, it demanded transparency and accountability: thus, federal law and the laws of 34 States, prohibit
spam that contains false or misleading information.

9. In CAN-SPAM, Congress made comprehensive legislative findings on the burdens posed by
spam (15 U.S.C. § 7701(a)):

a. “The convenience and efficiency of electronic mail are threatened by the extremely
rapid growth in the volume of unsolicited commercial electronic mail. Unsolicited
commercial electronic mail is currently estimated to account for over half of all
electronic mail traffic, up from an estimated 7 percent in 2001, and the volume
continues to rise. Most of these messages are fraudulent or deceptive in one or more
respects.”

b. “The receipt of unsolicited commercial electronic mail may result in costs to
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recipients who cannot refuse to accept such mail and who incur costs for the storage
of such mail, or for the time spent accessing, reviewing, and discarding such mail, or
for Both.”

“The receipt of a large number of unwanted messages also decreases the convenience
of electronic mail and creates a risk that wanted electronic mail meséages, both
commercial and noncommercial, will be lost, overlooked, or discarded amidst the
larger volume of unwanted messages, thus reducing the reliability and usefulness of
electronic mail to the recipient.”

“The growth in unsolicited commercial electronic mail imposes significant monetary
costs on providers of Internet access services, businesses, and educational and
nonprofit institutions that carry and receive such mail, as there is a finite volume of
mail that such providers, businesses, and institutions can handle without further
investment in infrastructure.”

“Many senders of unsolicited commercial electronic mail purposefully disguise the
source of such mail.”

“Many senders of unsolicited commercial electronic mail purposefully include
mivsleading information in the messages’ subject lines in order to induce the reéipients .

to view the messages.”

10. Likewise, the California Legislature in enacting that state’s anti-spam law, California

Business & Professions Code §§ 17529 et seq., found that (§ 17529(a)-(m)):

a.

“Roughly 40 percent of all e-mail traffic in the United States is comprised of
unsolicited commercial e-mail advertisements (hereaﬁer spam) and industry experts
predict that by the end of 2003 half of all e-mail traffic will be comprised of spam.”

“The increase in spam is not only an annoyance but is also an increasing drain on

- corporate budgets and possibly a threat to the continued usefulness of the most

successful tool of the computer age.”
“Complaints from irate business and home-computer users regarding spam have

skyrocketed, and polls have reported that 74 percent of respondents favor making
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mass spamming illegal and only 12 percent are opposed, and that 80 percent‘of
respondents consider spam very annoying.” |

“According to Ferris Research Inc., a San Francisco consulting group, spam will cost
United States organizations more than ten billion dollars ($10,000,000,000) this year,
including lost productivity and the additional equipment, soﬂwaré, and manpower
needed to combat the problem. California is 12 percent of the United States
population with an emphasis on technology business, and it is therefore estimated that
spam costs California organizations well over 1.2 billion dollars ($1,200,000,000).”
“Like junk faxes, spam imposes a cost on users, using up valuable storage space in e-
mail inboxes, as well as costly computer band width, and on networks and the
computer servers that power them, and discourages people from uéing e-mail.”
“Spam filters have not proven effective.”

“Like traditional paper “junk” mail, spam éan be annoying and waste time, but it also
causes many additional problems because it is easy and inexpensive to create, but
difficult and costly to eliminate.”

“The “cost shifting” from deceptive spammers to Internet business and e-mail users
has been likened to sending junk mail with postage due or making telemarketing calls
to someone’s pay-per-minute cellular phone.”

“Many spammers have become so adept at masking their tracks that they are rarely
found, and are so technologically sophisticated that they can adjust their systems to
counter special filters and other barriers against spém and can even electronically
commandeer unprotected computers, turning them into spam-launching weapons of
mass production.”

“There is a need to regulate the advertisers who use spam, as well as the actual
spammers, because the actual spammers can be difficult to track down due to some
return addresses that show up on the display as “unknown” and many others being

obvious fakes and they are often located offshore.”
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k. “The true beneficiaries of spam are the advertisers who benefit from the marketing
derived from the advertisements.” |
L “In addition, spam is responsible for virus proliferation that can cause tremendous
damage both to individual computers and to business systems.”
m.  “Because of the above prbblems, it is necessary that spam be préhibited R
11.  Inan April 2003 report entitled, False Claims in Spam, “the Federal Trade Commission
(FTC) found that 66 percent of all spam contains some kind of false, fraudulent, or misleading information,
either in the e-mail’s routing information, its subject line, or the body of its message.” S. Rep. No. 108-102
(“CAN-SPAM Act of 2003”), at 2. The FTC found that “one-third of all spam contains a fraudulent return
e-mail address that is included in the routing information (known as the ‘header’) of the e-mail message.”
Id. at 3. In the Senate Report, Congress also found that falsified headers “not only trick ISP’s increasingly
sophisticated filters,” but “lure consumers into mistakenly opening messages from what appears to be people
they know.” Id. In addition, Congress found that senders use false or misleading subject lines to “trick the
recipient into thinking that the e-mail sender has a personal or business relationship with the recipient.” 1d.
at4.
PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

12. Plaintiff Hypertouch is a California corporation, with its principal place of business in Menlo
Park, California. Hypertouch is developing next generation haptic peripherals. None of Hypertouch’s
peripherals that are in development have been released to market and so are currently protected trade secrets.
Hypertouch also provides Internet services and consulting.

13.  Oninformation and belief, Defendant ValueClick is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business at 30699 Russell Ranch Road, Westlake Village, CA 91361. Hypertouch is further
informed and believes that, at all times mentioned herein, Defendant ValueClick has conducted business in,
and under the laws of, the State of California. ValueClick directs, formulates and controls the practices of,
and shares common officership with the subsidiaries named herein.

14.  On information and belief, Defendant E-Babylon is a Delaware corporation with its principal

place of business at 30699 Russell Ranch Road, Westlake Village, CA 91361. Hypertouch is further
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informed and believes that, at all times mentioned herein, Defendant E-Babylon has conducted business in,
and under the laws of, the State of California. E-Babylon is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ValueClick.

15. On information and belief, Defendant Hi-Speed is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business at 30699 Russell Ranch Road, Wesﬂgke Village, CA 91361. Hypertouch is further
informed and believes that, at all times mentioned herein, Defendant Hi-Speed has conducted business in,
and under the laws of, the State of California. Hi-Speed is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ValueClick.

16.  On information and belief, Defendant VCES is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business at 30699 Russéll Ranch Road, Westlake Village, CA 91361. Hypertouch is further
informed and believes that, at all times mentioned herein, Defendant VCES has conducted business in, and
under the laws of, the State of California. VCES is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ValueClick.

17. On information and belief, Defendant WebClients is a Pennsylvania corporation, with its
principal place of business at 2201 North Front Street, Harrisburg, PA 17110. Hypertouch is further
informed and believes that, at all times mentioned herein, Defendant WebClients has conducted business in,
and under the laws of, the State of California. vWebClients is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ValueClick.
WebClients is believed to have more than a dozen wholly-owned subsidiaries through which WebClients
pursues its Internet marketing activities.

18. On information and belief, Defendant PrimaryAds is a Nevada corporation with its principal
place of business at 15550 Lightwave Drive, 3rd Floor, Clearwater, Florida 33760. Hypertouch is further
informed and believes that, at all times mentioned herein, Defendant PrimaryAds has conducted business in,
and under the laws of, the State of California and is an affiliate of ValueClick.

19. Does 1-30 are persons to be identified. Plaintiff is unaware of the true names and capacities
of these defendants and therefore sues by such fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this complaint to allege]
their true names and capacities once ascertained. Hypertouch is informed and believes and therefore alleges
that each of the fictitiously-named defendants is responsible in some manner for the occurrences herein
alleged, and that Hypertouch’s injuries as herein alleged were proximately caused by such defendants.
These fictitiously-named defendants, along with ValueClick, E-Babylon, Hi-Speed, VCES, WebClients and

PrimaryAds, are herein referred to collectively as “Defendants.”
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20.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendants conspired to commit the acts described

herein, or alternatively, aided and abetted others in the performance of the wrongful acts hereinafter alléged.

| All Defendants (including Does 1-30) authorized, participated in, acquiesced to, consented to and/or were

the agents of another defendant in the acts alleged, and initiated, conspired, assisted, participated in, or
otherwise encouraged the conduct allegéd in furtherance of one or more conspiracies to initiate the e-mails.
The transmissions of the e-mails identified herein were actions that each of the Defendants authorized,
controlied, directed, or had the ability to authorize, control or direct, and were actions for which each of the
Defendants is liable.

"ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION

21. Hypertouch is an “electronic mail service provider” as defined in California Business &
Professions Code § 17529.1(h). Hypertouch provides and enables access to the Internet for multiple users.

22. Hypertouch owns and operates interactive computer services that enable its customers to,
among other things, access the Internet, access Hypertouch-hosted Internet services and exchange e-mail.
Hypertouch owns and maintains computers and other equipment, including specialized computers or
“servers” that process e-mail messages and otherwise support its e-mail services. Hypertouch maintains the
e-mail-related equipment in the County of San Mateo, California.

23.  Each of Hypertouch’s servers provides one or more services that enable users to access
content over the Internet. Hypertouch’s clients could not access their e-mail without Hypertouch’s services.
No user anywhere on the Internet can send e-mail to Hypertouch’s clients nor view the web pages of
Hypertouch’s clients without accessing the servers provided by Hypertouch and using the services those
servers provide.

24, All e-mail messages relevant to this litigation were sent to e-mail addresses ordinarily
accessed from computers located in this state.

25. Spam is by far Hypertouch’s biggest customer service issue. Hypertouch has suffered injury

and lost money from its high spam load that includes the Defendants’ spam. This harm and cost includes:

a. Decreased mail server and DNS server responsiveness;
b. Multiple mail server and DNS server crashes;
7
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c. Mail server hardware and software replacements and upgrades to handle the increased

e-mail load;
d. Increased network bandwidth utilization;
e Supplemental server, software and business broadband line purchases to handle the

increased e-mail load.

26. . On information and belief, Defendants and/or their agents transmitted or caused the
transmission of commercial e-mail advertisements from California and to e-mail addresses in California and
other states.

27. On information and belief, Defendants and/or their agents arrange witﬁ other companies to
have commercial e-mail advertisements sent to e-mail addresses both in California and other states.

28.  On information and belief, Defendants and/or their agents continue to advertise in, send,
direct, assist, encourage, conspire in, prbcure, initiate, pérticipate in and/or facilitate the sending of tens or
hundreds of thousands of e-mails at a time to e-mail addresses both in California and other states advertising
various goods and services.

29. On information and belief] Defendants and/or their agents paid others based on the number of]
people who “clicked-through” the links in those commercial e-mail advertisements and thereby were
directed to Defendants’ or third-party advertiser’s website and/or numbers of people who make a purchase,
participate in a “incentive” program or otherwise become a customer.

30.  On information and belief, Defendants and/or their agents tracked the results of the
transmissions and all related sales and services, in part so that the bulk e-mailer whose e-mail lured the
recipient to click through to the advertiser site could be paid accordingly. This tracking generated records
that identify the participants in these activities, and the related times, dates, quantities and payment amounts.

31.  On information and belief, Defendants and/or their agents advertised in commercial e-mail
advertisements sent via intermediary and/or third-party computers and networks that were located in
California to e-mail addresses both in California and other states. |

32.  Defendants and/or their agehts advertised in and sent commercial e-mail advertisements to

Hypertouch in California.
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